SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 87,594

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 1 1998

QUINTON DRYDEN, et al.,

Petitioners,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

vs.

MADISON COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS ON REMAND FROM UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT

√Larry E. Levy

Fla Bar No. 047019

Loren E. Levy

Fla Bar No. 0814441

The Levy Law Firm

1828 Riggins Road

Tallahassee, Florida 32308
850/219-0220

Counsel for petitioners

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners, Quinton Dryden, et al., will be referred to herein as the "property owners." Respondent, Madison County, Florida, will be referred to herein as the "county." References to the record on appeal will be to the appendix filed with this brief and will be delineated as (A-document #-page #). References to the transcript will be delineated as (TR-volume #-page #). References to depositions will be to the amended index and will be delineated as (AI-volume #-document #-page #).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This cause is before this Court on remand from the United States Supreme Court by order dated March 2, 1998. (A-7) In the order, the United States Supreme Court granted the property owners' petition for writ of certiorari, vacated this Court's previous decision, and remanded for further consideration in light of Newsweek, Inc. v. Florida Department of Revenue, 118 S.Ct. 904 (1998). After the issuance of mandate, this Court established a briefing schedule for the parties by order dated April 16, 1998.

This case arose with the filing of a class action complaint in June 1990 for declaratory judgment and supplemental relief pursuant to chapter 86, Florida Statutes (1989), by the property owners in Madison County, Florida. (A-1-2) The complaint sought to have certain county levies labeled "special assessments/non-ad valorem assessment" and levied pursuant to county ordinances declared illegal, null, and void, in violation of the property owners' rights secured by the due process and equal protection clauses of the Florida and Federal Constitutions, the Florida Constitution's homestead protections, and several Florida Statutes. (A-1-2-3) The complaint also sought a refund of all monies collected pursuant to said ordinances. The property owners included homeowners who had paid the impositions and those who had not paid.

Prior to 1989, Madison County funded garbage disposal, landfill operations, ambulance services, and fire protection in

the rural areas of the county from either ad valorem taxes or from a combination of ad valorem taxes and fees charged for the various services rendered. (AI-II-29-236-240) For instance, persons using ambulance services were billed for the service furnished and either paid the bill directly or paid it through their insurance. (AI-II-32-336-337; AI-II-30-292-300) The City of Madison has a fire department which, by agreement with the county, also answers fire calls within a close radius of the City of Madison when possible. (AI-II-29-246) Since it is a rural farming and forestry area, fire service in the rural area also is provided by the Florida Forestry Service. (AI-II-29-exhibit #1-12)

Garbage disposal in the rural area of the county consists of garbage disposal and collection centers scattered throughout the county. These "green boxes" are used by both property owners and non-property owners as well as transients who either carry their household garbage to such disposal areas or carry it directly to the county landfill. (AI-II-29-236-240) No house-to-house garbage collection service was provided either before or after the adoption of the ordinances and the imposition of the levies challenged. (Id.) A charge was made for fire service if county fire service responded to a call. After the adoption of the 1989 ordinances, in which the assessments challenged were imposed, the garbage collection and landfill operation, as well as the fire and ambulance operations,

continued to be operated in the same manner and through essentially the same facilities as prior to 1989.

Subsequent to the filing of the complaint, the county amended its 1989 ordinances by adopting ordinances in 1990. (A-1-3) The original ordinances were adopted in August 1989 and imposed the assessments as of January 1, 1989, and subsequent years. (A-1-2)

After discovery and a hearing, the trial court entered its final judgment on November 25, 1991, finding that the ordinances and levies were invalid and ordering the county to refund all assessments levied pursuant thereto for years 1989 and 1990. (A-1-15) After suit was filed in June 1990, the county continued to assess, collect, and spend money collected and continued to do so after filing its appeal. (A-2-14)

On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision holding the ordinances invalid and the levies null and void. The district court, however, vacated that part of the judgment which had ordered refunds, finding same premature. Madison County v. Foxx, 636 So.2d 39 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). (A-10)

When the assessments originally were levied, many persons in Madison County refused to pay. As a result, liens attached to their property that required 18 percent interest to be charged, and assessment certificates were sold to bidders for nonpayment that provided for 18 percent interest if redeemed.

(A-2-22)

After the district court ruled that the ordinances and levies were invalid, the county repurchased all the assessment certificates sold, paid 18 percent interest thereon, and cancelled all the liens for persons who had not paid. (A-2-21-22) During the five-year period, the percentage of persons who did not pay the levies was as follows: 1989 - 60%; 1990 - 50%; 1991 - 50%; 1992 - 56%; and 1993 - 71%. (TR-I-176-177)

While the case was pending on appeal to the district court, the county continued to levy and collect the assessments for years 1991, 1992, and 1993 pursuant to the ordinances and advertised and sold certificates for nonpayment of assessments for 1990. (A-2-22) During the appeal, therefore, the property owners filed a separate lawsuit challenging the levies for 1991 on the same grounds as had been asserted in the first lawsuit challenging the 1989 and 1990 ordinances and levies. another sale of certificates for nonpayment, the parties entered into a stipulation on May 27, 1992. Pursuant to the stipulation, the trial court ordered that assessment certificates and assessment deeds would not be sold but permitted the county to continue to assess and collect assessments; provided that all money collected should be retained to make whatever refunds ultimately were ordered. (A-3-3)

The 1991 complaint subsequently was amended to add challenges to the levies for years 1992 and 1993 while the case was pending on appeal. A similar stipulation and order was executed and entered in March 1993, so that no further assessment

certificates or assessment deeds would be sold. (A-4) The county, however, continued to assess, collect, and spend the money notwithstanding the court's injunction to hold all money collected. (A-2-15)

On remand from the district court's decision, the two cases were consolidated pursuant to the parties' agreement that, since the issues were identical, the decision as to the validity of the ordinances and levies in the first case controlled the validity of the ordinances and levies for the second case. After hearing and testimony, the trial court entered its Order on Remand and ordered refunds for all years involved in the second lawsuit, which were years 1991, 1992, and 1993. The trial court, however, held that the county had acted in good faith in its levies and denied refunds for years 1989 or 1990. (A-2-22-23) In rendering its order, the trial court made a factual finding that the effect of denying refunds for all litigants violated the equal protection clause stating:

Thus, in its present posture, the County is asking this Court to deny refunds to those who did pay, even though many property owners never paid. This certainly is not fair and does not treat those who did pay and those who did not pay the same. Equal treatment is required of all so that no one should be treated differently. This is recognized in McKesson which also points out that failure to give refunds of monies unlawfully collected constitutes a denial of due process. At bar, it would also constitute a denial of equal protection of the law.

(A-2-22)

The property owners appealed the Order on Remand to the First District Court of Appeal. The county cross-appealed, citing as error the trial court's order finding that the refunds were entitled to interest pursuant to section 55.03, Florida Statutes (1997), which provides for interest on all final judgments. The county did not appeal that part of the trial court's judgment ordering refunds for years 1991, 1992, and 1993.

On appeal, the First District Court affirmed the trial court's finding that "good faith" was still a defense which could be used by a county to avoid making refunds, notwithstanding McKesson. The district court also reversed that part of the trial court's order awarding interest, and certified a question to this Court. Dryden v. Madison County, 672 So.2d 840 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). (A-9)

This Court accepted jurisdiction and answered the following certified question in the affirmative:

IS THE HOLDING OF GULESIAN v. DADE COUNTY SCHOOL BD., 281 So.2d 325 (Fla. 1973), WHICH PROVIDES THAT UNDER CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES A GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY NEED NOT REFUND PROCEEDS FROM A TAX THAT IS LATER DETERMINED TO BE ILLEGAL, STILL VALID AFTER THE DECISIONS OF MCKESSON v. DIVISION OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES AND TOBACCO, 496 U.S. 18 (1990), and KUHNLEIN v. DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, 646 So.2d 717 (Fla. 1995).

Dryden v. Madison County, 696 So.2d 728, 729 (Fla. 1997). (A-8)

This Court with one dissent answered this question by holding that, notwithstanding McKesson, federal due process requirements do not require a county to refund assessments collected pursuant to a coercive statutory scheme where payment

is required to prevent a lien from attaching to the property and to prevent sale of tax certificates and tax deeds, and 18 percent interest is charged for late payments and no predeprivation remedy is provided by statute, if the court finds that the levying political entity acted in "good faith." <u>Dryden</u>, 696 So.2d at 730, n.4 ("We agree with the district court that the record supports the trial court's finding of good faith.").

Although this Court's decision mentioned the United States Supreme Court's holding in McKesson, it cited only Gulesian v. Dade County School Bd., 281 So.2d 325 (Fla. 1973), as support for its holding. Gulesian is the same case this Court relied upon in McKesson, which was reversed by the United States Supreme Court. Justice Wells' lengthy dissent addresses the reversal of this Court's decision in McKesson and Gulesian stating:

I dissent from the majority's holding that equitable considerations preclude a refund of unlawful assessments. Precluding any remedy to those taxpayers who complied with the law and paid the invalid special assessments constitutes a denial of due process. Moreover, the majority's reliance on Gulesian v. Dade County School Board, 281 So.2d 325 (Fla. 1973), is misplaced. Even if Gulesian is still valid after McKesson Corp. v. Division of Alcoholic Beverages & Tobacco, 496 U.S. 18 (1990) (McKesson II), this case does not come within the narrow holding of To deny taxpayers who paid the Gulesian. assessments any relief would additionally violate equal protection and is patently unfair.

<u>Dryden</u>, 696 So.2d at 730.

Thereafter, Justice Wells examined the United States
Supreme Court's holding in McKesson and concluded that (1)
Gulesian, even if still valid after McKesson, does not apply
because no judicial decision upholding the involved ordinances
existed upon which good faith reliance could be based, (2)
McKesson requires that, if a state places a taxpayer under duress
to promptly pay an imposition when due and relegates him to a
post-payment refund action to challenge its legality, due process
requires meaningful backward looking relief, (3) precluding
refunds constitutes a denial of equal protection of law because
the county subsequently cancelled liens for all those who did not
pay, and (4) interest is required. As Justice Wells stated:

The Fourteenth Amendment provides that a state may not deprive any person of property without due process of law. See U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. The United States Supreme Court interpreted this amendment in McKesson II, in which it set forth the legal analysis appropriate for determining a state's constitutional duty to provide relief to property owners for the payment of unlawful assessments. In McKesson II, the Court reviewed our decision in Division of Alcoholic Beverages & Tobacco v. McKesson Corp., 524 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1988) (McKesson I), in which we denied a refund of taxes paid under a statute found to violate the Commerce Clause. We cited Gulesian in support of our finding that the prospective nature of the rulings was proper in light of the equitable considerations, including the good-faith reliance on a presumptively valid statute and the possibility that any refund would result in a windfall to those who paid the tax. at 1010.

In McKesson II, the United States Supreme Court reversed our decision. In so doing, the Court stated that prospective relief by itself did not exhaust the requirements of

federal law. McKesson II, 496 U.S. at 31. The Court explicitly rejected the position that equitable considerations of good-faith reliance by the Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco on a presumptively valid statute allowed the state to deny a refund. Id. at 44, 110 S.Ct. at 2254.

Dryden, 696 So.2d at 731.

The property owners sought review of this Court's decision in <u>Dryden</u> to the United States Supreme Court and argued that the decision contravened their rights secured by the due process and equal protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The property owners argued that this Court's decision conflicted with <u>McKesson</u>, <u>Reich v.</u>

Collins, 513 U.S. 106 (1994), <u>Harper v. Virginia Department of Taxation</u>, 509 U.S. 86 (1993), <u>James B. Beam Distilling Co. v.</u>

Georgia, 501 U.S. 529 (1991), <u>Griffith v. Kentucky</u>, 479 U.S. 314 (1987), and <u>Ward v. Love County Board of Comm'rs</u>, 253 U.S. 17 (1920). The Supreme Court granted the petition of certiorari, vacated this Court's decision, and remanded for further consideration in light of its decision in <u>Newsweek</u>, issued five days prior to its order. (A-7)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Justice Wells' dissent in this Court's initial decision is a correct expression of the law and should be adopted on remand from the United States Supreme Court. Federal due process and equal protection requires that property owners must receive an adequate postdeprivation remedy of any illegally imposed tax or charge paid under duress where no predeprivation right exists by which to challenge the legality of the tax or charge.

In <u>Newsweek</u>, the First District Court of Appeal had attempted to avoid ordering a sales tax refund, although acknowledging <u>McKesson's</u> requirements of "meaningful backward looking relief" when a taxpayer is forced to pay a tax before having an opportunity to challenge it, on the basis that there was a predeprivation remedy provided in section 72.011, Florida Statutes (1997). Even though there was a specific statute authorizing refunds, the First District Court held that <u>McKesson</u> and the cases cited therein did not require a post-payment refund.

The United States Supreme Court rejected this attempted circumvention citing McKesson and, among other cases, its decision in Reich. The Court held that a state may not "bait and switch" by holding out what appears to be a postdeprivation refund remedy and then declare, only after the disputed taxes were paid, that no such remedy exists because the taxpayer failed to use an available statutory predeprivation mechanism. The Court held that Newsweek "is entitled to a clear and certain

remedy and thus it can use the refund procedures to adjudicate the merits of its claim." Newsweek, 118 S.Ct. at 905.

Unlike the situation in Newsweek, in the instant case there is no predeprivation remedy at all. The impositions for which refund had been sought had been declared illegal, null, and They were collected pursuant to a statutory scheme which void. coerces prompt payment to prevent liens from attaching to the property and which provides for summary collection procedures including forfeiture of property. No predeprivation statutory mechanism exists for challenging the impositions. In addition, no specific statutory postdeprivation relief mechanism exists, such as refunds. The four-year statute of limitations found in sections 95.11(3)(m) and (p), Florida Statutes (1997), would control suits for the refund in this case. Section 95.11(3), Florida Statutes (1997), enumerates actions which are governed by the four-year statute of limitations and among those enumerated is an action which relates to any money paid to any governmental authority by mistake or inadvertence.

In Newsweek, the First District Court of Appeal attempted to avoid the remedy of refunds by emphasizing the existence of a statutory predeprivation remedy. The United States Supreme Court rejected the district court's attempt to distinguish McKesson by again stating that federal due process required a postdeprivation remedy unless the predeprivation remedy was clearly and certainly established as the exclusive means by which to challenge an illegal tax or charge.

In the instant case, this Court's initial decision attempted to distinguish McKesson and deny refunds by asserting the existence of equitable considerations. Equitable considerations and prospective relief were rejected in McKesson, where the Court firmly established that there must be a clear and certain remedy to meet the requirements of due process. Otherwise, the state, or here the county, has the authority to violate the law, unlawfully take a person's property, and avoid all accountability by not refunding the money which had unlawfully been collected. Newsweek again restated that the state must either supply a statutory predeprivation remedy that is clearly established as the exclusive method by which to challenge an unlawful tax or charge, or permit refunds or some other adequate postdeprivation remedy. In the case at bar, no predeprivation remedy existed and the only remedy that complies with the McKesson due process commands is refund.

This Court's initial decision that equitable considerations justified the application of the prospective application of a rule of law is an excellent example of selective prospectivity condemned by the United States Supreme Court in James B. Beam Distilling Co. v. Georgia, 501 U.S. 529 (1991). At bar, approximately one-half of the property owners in Madison County did not pay the charges levied by the county and suffered liens attaching to their property, which ultimately resulted in the sale of certificates for nonpayment. The county redeemed those certificates sold by paying to the purchasers all amounts

paid plus 18 percent interest. Property owners who did not pay the illegal assessments are thus treated dramatically different from those who paid. This is <u>blatant selective prospectivity</u>. Those who paid are afforded no relief by this Court's initial decision and those who did not pay obtain the benefit of the decision and all liens on their property are cancelled. This certainly is a clear example of "picking and choosing" between persons who receive the benefit of the decision and those who do not.

To deny refunds in this case would squarely conflict with the due process and equal protection requirements articulated by the United States Supreme Court. Those property owners who did not pay the assessments did not have to pay. By cancelling and redeeming all assessment certificates sold plus paying 18 percent interest thereon, the county actually has paid the assessments for them. Equal treatment for all would require that those who paid receive refunds plus the same interest that the county paid to redeem the assessment certificates for all five years. In this case, refunds are the only postdeprivation remedy available.

ARGUMENT

I. The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution requires a refund of monies paid to discharge impositions levied by county ordinances and collected pursuant a coercive statutory scheme, which such impositions and ordinances were subsequently held null and void, where no predeprivation statutory mechanism exists to challenge the impositions and no other postdeprivation remedy is available.

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