INTRODUCTORY NOTES 

The Appellants below, QUINTON DRYDEN, et al., will 

be referred to in this Brief as ttPetitionerst'. 

The Appellees below were MADISON COUNTY, FLX)RIDA, and 

WES KELLEY, Tax Collector of Madison County, Florida. As WES 

KELLEY, Tax Collector, and will be referred to collectively as 

"Respondents." MADISON COUNTY will be referred to as 11County.tt 

References to the Record shall be referred to by an 

IIRII followed by the appropriate volume and page number of the 

Record. 

References to the Record on Cross-Appeal shall be 

referred to by an 8tR-CA-V1 followed by the page number. 
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STATEMENT OF THE Cdl&E AND FACTS

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

decision of the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, U.S. 

v. M.C.C. of Florida, Inc., 967 F.2d 1559 (11th Cir. 1992) In 

this case the court held that in granting a GVR decision the 

13 
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U.S. Supreme Court does not take a position as to whether the 

cited case applies but is instructing the court to which the 

case is remanded to make that determination. 

This court has also implicitly recognized that a GVR 

decision from the U.S. Supreme Court does not mandate 

modification of the original decision. Similarly to the 

instant case, in Shell Oil Co. v. Department of Rev., 540 So.2d 

107 (Fla. 1989) this court considered a GVR decision of the 

U.S. Supreme Court which remanded for further consideration in 

light of an intervening U.S. Supreme Court decision concerning 

the State of Iowa. In its review of the remand this court 

stated: 

In our original opinion we answered a similar question as 
it relates to Florida in the negative. All parties agree 
that the United States Supreme Court answered the same 
question in the same way. We are therefore uncertain as 
to why that Court vacated the judgement approved in our 
opinion 

Shell, 540 So.2d 107 at 108 

The court went on to reaffirm its original decision. 

Thus, this court is not bound to change or in any way modify 

its original decision in this case. 

14 
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II. 

THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT'S DECISION 
IN NEWSWEEK, INC., V. FLORIDA DEPARTMENT 
OF REVENUE, 118 S.CT. 904 (1998) DOES NOT 
CHANGE THE EXISTING LAW CONCERNING REFUNDS 
OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS NOR DOES IT MANDATE 
REFUNDS IN THIS CASE. 

In its decision rendered in the case of Newsweek, 

Inc., v. Florida Department of Revenue, 118 S.Ct. 904 (1998) 

the U.S. Supreme Court did not change the law existing at the 

time of this court's opinion in the instant case. In Newsweek, 

the petitioner was engaged in the business of selling magazines 

and had paid its state sales tax on the sale of its magazines. 

In reaction to this court's ruling in Department of Rev., v. 

Magazine Pub. Of America, 604 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1992), the 

Petitioner applied for a refund of the taxes it had paid. In 

Magazine, this court had determined that the State of Florida's 

sales tax scheme for periodicals, newspapers, magazines and 

similar publications impermissibly burdened the magazine 

publisher's rights under the First Amendment of the United 

States Constitution. Magazine, did not address the issue of 

refunds. 

Upon the magazine publisher's application for refund, 

the Florida Department of Revenue denied the request for refund 

and the case proceeded to Circuit Court where the trial court 

25 
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entered summary judgement against the magazine publishers. On 

appeal to the First District court of Appeal, that court 

affirmed the grant of summary judgement against the magazine 

publishers on the basis that the publishers failed to exercise 

their right to contest the tax in question prior to paying the 

tax. Newsweek Inc., v. Department of Revenue, 689 So.2d 361, 

at 363-364 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) 

The magazine publishers cited McKesson Corp., v. 

Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco, 496 U.S. 18 (1990) 

as authority for the proposition that the state was required 

to provide meaningful backward looking relief. The First 

District Court however agreed with the Department of Revenue: 

We agree that McKesson is distinguishable because that 
holding was expressly predicated upon the fact that the 
taxpayer had no meaningful predeprivation remedy. The 
Court's holding was that states are obligated to provide 
a meaningful opportunity to secure post payment relief 
when a state penalizes the taxpayer for failing to pay 
first and obtain review of the taxes validity later in a 
refund action. 

Newsweek, 689 So.2d 361, at 363 

In the present case, the taxpayer could have availed 
itself of the predeprivation remedy under section 72.011, 
Florida Statutes (1987) 

Newsweek, 689 So.2d 361, at 363 

Thus, the coercive penalties which deprived the taxpayers 
in McKesson of any effective predeprivation remedy are 
not factors in this case. 

Newsweek, 689 So.2d 361, at 364 

16 
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The First District Court affirmed the opinion of the 

trial court in all respects, and the magazine publishers 

petitioned for a writ of certiorari to the United States 

Supreme Court. 

In its review of the First District Court's opinion, 

the U.S. Supreme Court stated that the First District Court 

failed to consider the court's decision in Reich v. Collins, 

513 U.S. 106 (1994). Newsweek v. Florida Department of 

Revenue, 118 S.Ct. 904 at 904. In its discussion of Reich, the 

U.S. Supreme Court said: 

There, the Georgia Supreme Court had rejected a 
taxpayer's refund claim filed pursuant to a general 
refund statute, dismissing any due process concerns 
because a predeprivation remedy was available. 
(citations omitted) While assuming the constitutional 
adequacy of Georgia's predeprivation procedures, we 
nonetheless reversed because "no reasonable taxpayer would 
have thought that [the predeprivation procedures] 
represented, in light of the apparent availability of the 
refund statute, the exclusive remedy for unlawful 
taxes.(emphasis added)(citations omitted) 

Newsweek, 118 S.Ct. 904 at 904-905 

We emphasized a State "has the flexibility to maintain an 
exclusively predeprivation remedial scheme, so long as 
the scheme is ‘clear and certain.'" (citations omitted) 
But a State may not “bait and switch" by "hold[ing] out 
what plainly appears to be a 'clear and certain' 
postdeprivation remedy and then declare, only after the 
disputed taxes are paid, that no such remedy exists." 

Newsweek, 118 S.Ct. 904 at 905 

The court concluded that the First District Court's 
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decision constituted just such a "bait and switch." In other 

words the Florida scheme was impermissible because it held out 

two alternative remedies to the taxpayer. One being a 

prepayment remedy, a suit under 5 72.011, Fla.Stat., which 

could be brought prior to paying the tax with no penalty. 

While the other was a postpayment remedy, a suit for refund 

pursuant to § 215.26, Fla.Stat., which could be brought after 

payment of the tax. The court reasoned that Florida could not 

now deny the chance for a refund after the taxpayers paid the 

tax relying on the availability of a refund if the tax was 

found unlawful. 

Under Florida law there was a long standing practice of 
permitting taxpayers to seek refunds under 5 215.26 for 
taxes paid under an unconstitutional statute. 

While Florida may be free to require taxpayers to 
litigate first and pay later, due process prevents it 
from applying this requirement to taxpayers, like 
Newsweek, who reasonably relied on the apparent 
availability of a postpayment refund when paying the tax. 

Newsweek, 118 S.Ct. 904 at 905 

It was on the basis of this apparent "bait and 

switch" that the U.S. Supreme Court vacated the opinion of the 

First District Court and remanded the case to the First 

District for further proceeding not inconsistent with the 

court's opinion in Newsweek v. Florida Department of Revenue, 

118 S.Ct. 904 (1998). 
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The factual and legal circumstances in Newsweek are 

completely dissimilar to the situation in the instant case. 

In the instant case the County does not contest that the 

Petitioners are equally as entitled to a postdeprivation remedy 

as they are a predeprivation remedy. Rather the County asserts 

that, as stated by this court: 

Where an invalid tax scheme applies across the board and 
confers a commensurate benefit, on the other hand, 
"equitable considerations" may preclude a refund. 
Gulisian v. Dade County School Bd., 281 So.2d 325 (Fla. 
1973) 

In the present case, the 1989 and 1990 assessments 
fall into the latter category. The assessments were non- 
discriminatory (i.e., they applied across the board to 
all property owners in the county) and they conferred a 
commensurate benefit (i.e., they provided for garbage 
collection and disposal, landfill closure, ambulance 
service, and fire protection). Further, the county acted 
in good faith in imposing the assessments. Competent 
substantial evidence supports the denial of refunds for 
1989 and 1990. 

Dryden, 696 So.2d 728 at 730 

Newsweek does not change these findings or the law that is to 

be applied. The holding of this court set out above is equally 

applicable to the instant case whether applied as part of a 

predeprivation or postdeprivation analysis. 

Whether the petitioners received commensurate 

benefits which preclude refund can be decided in either a pre 

or post deprivation setting. 

Further as stated by the District Court in the 
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instant case: 

. . . [T]he requirement of the United States Supreme Court 
concerning meaningful remedies are inapplicable in this 
case. 

Dryden, 672 So.2d 840 at 843 

This is so because this case does not involve a 

situation where a tax, much less a special assessment, violates 

Federal law. Here the special assessments, enacted by county 

ordinance of the Board of County Commissioners of Madison 

County, Florida were not determined to be illegal, but merely 

void for not meeting the procedural requirements for ordinances 

enacting special assessments under the laws of the State of 

Florida. The instant special assessments were not and have not 

to this day been determined to violate any provision of Federal 

law or the Federal Constitution. In fact, the same type of 

special assessments, which did not have the same procedural 

irregularities, have been recently upheld by this court as 

proper under the law. Lake County v. Water Oak Management 

Corp., 695 So.2d 667 (Fla. 1997); Harris v. Wilson, 693 So.2d 

945 (Fla. 1997); Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ, 

Inc., 667 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1995) 

Thus, McKesson, in which the taxes were invalidated 

based on inconsistencies with the United States Constitution 

does not mandate refunds. 
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The State Supreme court of Utah has recently 

considered this issue in the case of Kennecott v. State Tax 

Corn/n, 862 P.2d 1348 (Utah 1993). In the Kennecott case the 

Supreme Court of Utah struck down a Utah State statute for 

violating its State Constitution. The petitioners sought 

refunds of the amount of the assessments paid pursuant to the 

stricken law, and cited the McKesson case as authority for the 

proposition that the Federal Constitution mandated such 

refunds. The Utah Court flatly rejected such assertion: 

McKesson is inapplicable here. In McKesson, the 
Court repeatedly stated that its decision was based 
on Florida's violation of the Commerce Clause. In 
this case, the tax scheme was stricken as a 
violation of the Utah Constitution's prohibition 
against unequal taxation, No Federal law was 
involved. This court has repeatedly recognized that 
‘[t]he purely prospective application of a state 
court decision overruling prior authority in a civil 
case [involving state law] violates no right under 
the United States Constitution.t Thus, federal law 
does not govern the question of whether a state 
court decision involving state law should be applied 
retroactively or prospectively. 

Kennecott, 862 P.2d 1348 at 1353 

In reaching this conclusion the Utah Supreme Court 

relied upon this Court's opinion in the case of Great Northern 

Railway Co. v. Sunburst Oil & Refining Co., 287 U.S. 358 (1932) 

in which Justice Cardozo stated: 

[T]he Federal Constitution has no voice upon the 
subject [of retroactivity versus prospectivity]. A 
state in defining the limits of adherence to 
precedent may make a choice for itself between the 
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principle of forward operation and that of relation 
backward.... 

The choice for any state may be determined by the 
juristic philosophy of the judges of her courts, 
their conceptions of law, its origin and nature. We 
review, not the wisdom of their philosophies, but 
the legality of their acts. 

Kennecott, 862 P.2d 1348, at 1353, and Great Northern Railway, 

287 U.S. 358, at 364-365 

Since the Federal Constitution has no voice on the 

subject, Great Northern Railway, s~prd, the petitioners' due 

process and equal protection arguments cannot apply. 

This position, as well as the continued vitality of 

the Great Northern Railway case are supported by McKesson's 

ing Association, Inc. v. Smith, companion case American Truck 

496 U.S. 167 (1990), 

When questions of State Law are at issue, state 
courts generally have the authority to determine the 
retroactivity of their own decisions. See Great 
Northern R. Co. v. Sunburst Oil & Refining Co., 287 
U.S. 358, 53 S. Ct. 145, 77 L. Ed. 360 (1932) ("We 
think the federal constitution has no voice upon the 
subject [of whether a state court may decline to 
give its decisions retroactive effect]"). 

American Trucking, 496 U.S. 167, at 177. 

The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit has also 

addressed this proposition of law in its opinion of Wilson v. 

Valley Electric Membership Corp., 8 F.3d 311 (5th Cir. 1993) 

This case concerned whether customers of a rural electric 

cooperative would receive a refund of rate increases which 
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allegedly violated the Louisiana Constitution, but did not 

violate the laws or Constitution of the United States. The 

court of appeals approved the order of the trial court which 

abstained from considering the case in favor of state-court 

review. The court's decision was based in part on the 

recognition that: 

There are only state law issues in this case. These 
are, first, whether the Louisiana Supreme Court's 
decision in Cajun Electric [Cajun Elec. Power Coop., 
Inc. v. Louisiana Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 544 So.2d 362 
(La. 1989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 991 (1989)J 
should apply retroactively, and, second, if so, 
whether it invalidates prior rate increases. The 
Supreme Court has declared: “When questions of State 
Law are at issue, state courts generally have the 
authority to determine the retroactivity of their 
own decisions." American Txucking Ass'n v. Smith, 
496 U.S. 167, 177, 110 S.Ct. 2323, 2330, 110 L.Ed.2d 
148 (1990) (plurality opinion)(citing Great N. Ry. 

Sunburst Oil & Ref. Co 287 U.S. 358, 364, 53 
;:Ct. 145, 148, 77 L.Ed. 36;) (1932)) 

Wilson v. Valley Electric Membership Corp., 8 F.3d 311, at 314 

(5th Cir. 1993) 

Further this distinction between laws invalidated on 

Federal and State law grounds seems to be supported by the case 

which was given as the basis of the U.S. Supreme Court's 

decision in Newsweek, Reich v. Collins, 513 U.S. 106 (1994). 

In Reich this Court explained McKesson and the cases on which 

it was based as follows: 
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Reich then petitioned the Georgia Supreme Court for 
reconsideration of its decision on the grounds that 
even if the Georgia tax refund statute does not 
require a refund, federal due process does-due 
processI that is, as interpreted by McKesson Corp. 
v. Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco, Fla, 
Dept. Of Business Regulation, 496 U.S. 18, 110 S.Ct. 
2238, 110 L.Ed.2d 17 (1990), and the long line of 
cases upon which McKesson depends. See id,, at 32- 
36, 110 S.Ct., at 2247-2250, citing Iowa-Des Moines 
Nat. Bank v. Bennet, 284 U.S. 239, 52 S.Ct. 133, 76 
L.Ed. 265 (1931); Montana Nat. Bank of Billings v. 
Yellowstone County, 276 U.S. 499, 48 S.Ct. 331, 72 
L.Ed. 673 (1928); Carpenter v. Shaw, 280 U.S. 363, 
50 S.Ct. 121, 74 L.Ed. 265 (1930); Ward v. Board of 
County Commr's of Love County, 253 U.S. 17, 40 S.Ct. 
419, 64 L.Ed. 751 (1920); Atchinson, T. & S.F.R. Co, 

O'Conner, 223 U.S. 280, 32 S.Ct. 216, 56 L-Ed. 
4vj6 (1912); see generally Fallon & Meltzer, New Law, 
Non-Retroactivity, and Constitutional Remedies, 104 
Harv.L.Rev. 1733, 1824-1830 (1991). As we said, 
these cases stand for the proposition that “a denial 
by a state court of a recovery of taxes exacted i,.n 

on of the law r titution of the United 
States by compulsioz ys ZgLf a contravention of 
the Fourteenth Amendment," Carpenter, supra ,(emphasis 
added) 

Reich v. Collins, 513 U.S. 106 at 109 

Thus, Reich, and therefore Newsweek, are inapplicable 

due to the fact that they deal with violations of the Federal 

Constitution or Federal law. Thus, this Court should not 

mandate refunds here because the instant case is free of 

Federal Constitutional issues. 

24 



LAW OFFICES OF 

Davis, Browning & 

1 
Schnitker, P.A. 

P. 0. Drawer 852 
Madison, Florida 

32341 

(850) 973-4188 

III. 

REFUSING TO REQUIRE REFUNDS DOES NOT 
RESULT IN ANY TYPE OF APPLICATION OF PRIOR 
CASE LAW CONDEMNED BY THE UNITED STATES 
SUPREME COURT NOR DOES IT DENY THE 
PETITIONERS THEIR RIGHTS SECURED BY THE 
EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUS OF THE FOURTEENTH 
AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES 
CONSTITUTION. 

In answering the last two sections of the 

Petitioner's Brief it must first be realized that nowhere in 

either section does the Petitioner cite or reference either

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